
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

COUNCIL 
AGENDA 

 

SPECIAL COUNCIL MEETING 
 
 
 
 

 
Wednesday 22 January 2020 

 



 
 

The Mayor – Councillor Daryl Brown 
Deputy Mayor – Councillor Mercy Umeh 

 
 

ADDISON 
 
 
Adam Connell (L) 
Rachel Leighton (L) 
Sue Fennimore (L) 

HAMMERSMITH  
BROADWAY 
 
Stephen Cowan (L) 
PJ Murphy (L) 
Patricia Quigley (L) 

RAVENSCOURT PARK 
 
 
Jonathan Caleb-Landy (L) 
Bora Kwon (L) 
Asif Siddique (L) 
 

ASKEW  
 
Lisa Homan (L) 
Rowan Ree (L) 
Rory Vaughan (L) 
 

MUNSTER 
 
Adronie Alford (C) 
Alex Karmel (C) 
Dominic Stanton (C) 

SANDS END 
 
Lucy Richardson (L) 
Ann Rosenberg (L) 
Matt Uberoi (L) 
 

AVONMORE & 
BROOK GREEN 
 
David Morton (L) 
Rebecca Harvey (L) 
Fiona Smith (L) 
 

NORTH END 
 
 
Daryl Brown (L) 
Larry Culhane (L) 
Zarar Qayyum (L) 

SHEPHERDS BUSH 
GREEN 
 
Andrew Jones (L) 
Natalia Perez (L) 
Mercy Umeh (L) 

COLLEGE PARK & 
OLD OAK 
 
Alexandra Sanderson (L) 
Wesley Harcourt (L) 
 

PALACE RIVERSIDE 
 
 
Amanda Lloyd-Harris (C) 
Donald Johnson (C) 
 

TOWN 
 
 
Andrew Brown (C) 
Belinda Donovan (C) 
Victoria Brocklebank-
Fowler (C) 
 

FULHAM BROADWAY 
 
 
Ben Coleman (L) 
Sharon Holder (L) 
Helen Rowbottom (L) 
 

PARSONS GREEN AND 
WALHAM 
 
Matt Thorley (C) 
Mark Loveday (C) 
Frances Stainton (C) 

WORMHOLT AND  
WHITE CITY 
 
Colin Aherne (L) 
Sue Macmillan (L) 
Max Schmid (L) 

FULHAM REACH 
 
Iain Cassidy (L) 
Christabel Cooper (L) 
Guy Vincent (L) 

 
 

 

 



 

SUMMONS 

Councillors of the London Borough of 

Hammersmith & Fulham 

are requested to attend the 

Special Meeting of the Council on 

Wednesday 22 January 2020 

at 3 Shortlands, W6 8DA 

 

The Council will meet at 7.00pm 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

14 January 2020 

3 Shortlands 

Hammersmith W6 

 Kim Smith 

Chief Executive 



London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 

Full Council Agenda 
22 January 2020 

 
 
Item  Pages 

1.   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 

 

2.   MAYOR'S/CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S ANNOUNCEMENTS 
 

 

3.   DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS   

 If a Councillor has a disclosable pecuniary interest in a particular item, 
whether or not it is entered in the Authority’s register of interests, or 
any other significant interest which they consider should be declared in 
the public interest, they should declare the existence and, unless it is a 
sensitive interest as defined in the Member Code of Conduct, the 
nature of the interest at the commencement of the consideration of that 
item or as soon as it becomes apparent. 
 
At meetings where members of the public are allowed to be in 
attendance and speak, any Councillor with a disclosable pecuniary 
interest or other significant interest may also make representations, 
give evidence or answer questions about the matter.  The Councillor 
must then withdraw immediately from the meeting before the matter is 
discussed and any vote taken.  
 
Where Members of the public are not allowed to be in attendance and 
speak, then the Councillor with a disclosable pecuniary interest should 
withdraw from the meeting whilst the matter is under consideration. 
Councillors who have declared other significant interests should also 
withdraw from the meeting if they consider their continued participation 
in the matter would not be reasonable in the circumstances and may 
give rise to a perception of a conflict of interest. 
 
Councillors are not obliged to withdraw from the meeting where a 
dispensation to that effect has been obtained from the Standards 
Committee. 
 

 

4.   FREEDOM OF THE BOROUGH  6 - 16 

 In recognition of their achievements and contributions to the wellbeing 
of the residents of our borough and across London, the Council is 
requested to confer the ‘Freedom of the Borough’ to: 

 Michael Mansfield QC 

 Dr Stephen Hirst 

 Dr John Lister 

 Merril Hammer 

 Anne Drinkell 

 Jim Grealy 
 
 
 

 



 
 

 



London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
  
Report to:    Council  
 
Date:            22 January 2020  
 
Subject:       Freedom of The Borough  
 
Report of:    The Leader of the Council - Councillor Stephen Cowan 
 
Responsible Chief Officer: Kim Smith, Chief Executive 
 
Summary 
 
In recognition of the achievements and contributions of  
 

 Michael Mansfield QC 

 Dr Stephen Hirst 

 Dr John Lister 

 Merril Hammer 

 Anne Drinkell 

 Jim Grealy 

to the wellbeing of the residents of our borough and across London, this Council is 
requested to confer on them the “Freedom of the Borough”. 
 
Recommendations 
 
That the Council confer the “Freedom of the Borough” of the London Borough of 
Hammersmith and Fulham” on: - 

 

 Michael Mansfield QC 

In recognition of his sterling work and expert insight and analysis as the Chair of 
the Independent Healthcare Commission for North West London. The 
Commission’s influential report led to the Government’s abandonment of the 
closure plans for the existing excellent Charing Cross Hospital and Ealing 
Hospital which provide crucial health services for some of the most deprived 
communities across West London.  

 

 Dr Stephen Hirst 

In recognition that, as a member of the Independent Healthcare Commission for 
North West London, he oversaw the gathering of evidence that revealed the 
paucity of the business case that the NHS relied upon to close crucial hospital 
services for h&f residents.  His medical expertise and in-depth knowledge of the 
health service was crucial in the analysis of the evidence that resulted in the 
Government’s abandonment of its closure plans for Charing Cross Hospital and 
Ealing Hospital. 
 

Page 6

Agenda Item 4



 
 

 Dr John Lister 

In recognition that, as a member of the Independent Healthcare Commission for 
North West London, he oversaw the gathering of evidence that revealed the 
paucity of the business case that the NHS relied upon to close crucial hospital 
services for h&f residents.  His research skills and in-depth knowledge of health 
services was crucial in the analysis of the evidence that resulted in the 
Government’s abandonment of its closure plans for Charing Cross Hospital and 
Ealing Hospital. 
 

 Merril Hammer 

In recognition of her tireless campaigning over many years, as the Chair of 
Save Our Hospitals, to protect crucial hospital services for the residents of 
Hammersmith & Fulham.  Save Our Hospitals was the channel through which 
the people of Hammersmith & Fulham gained a voice against the 
Government’s hospital closure plans.  The closure of two hospitals was 
averted and a national government policy that would have had such a 
negative impact on the healthcare of Hammersmith & Fulham residents was 
overturned.   
 

 Anne Drinkell 

In recognition of her tireless campaigning over many years, as the Secretary 
of Save Our Hospitals, to protect crucial hospital services for the residents of 
Hammersmith & Fulham.  Save Our Hospitals was the channel through which 
the people of Hammersmith & Fulham gained a voice against the 
Government’s hospital closure plans.  The closure of two hospitals was 
averted and a national government policy that would have had such a 
negative impact on the healthcare of Hammersmith & Fulham residents was 
overturned.   
 

 Jim Grealy 

In recognition of his tireless campaigning over many years, as the Assistant 
Secretary of Save Our Hospitals, to protect crucial hospital services for the 
residents of Hammersmith & Fulham.  Save Our Hospitals was the channel 
through which the people of Hammersmith & Fulham gained a voice against 
the Government’s hospital closure plans.  The closure of two hospitals was 
averted and a national government policy that would have had such a 
negative impact on the healthcare of Hammersmith & Fulham residents was 
overturned.   

 
Wards Affected:     All 
 
 
 
 

Page 7



 
 
H&F Priorities 
 

Our Priorities Summary of how this report aligns 
to the H&F Priorities  

Creating a compassionate council The establishment of the 
Independent Healthcare Commission 
was a demonstration of the Council’s 
commitment to protect the health and 
welfare of its residents. 

Doing things with local residents, not to 
them 

The Commission took evidence from 
local residents, campaigners and 
health service users to inform its 
report and its recommendations. 

Taking pride in H&F The Government’s abandonment of 
its closure plans for Charing Cross 
Hospital ensured that a major 
hospital with excellent services will 
remain in the borough. 

 
Financial Impact  
 
The cost of a small reception for the friends and family of the recipients will be met 
from the existing Mayor’s budget. There are no additional financial implications of 
conferring the “Freedom of the Borough” of the London Borough of Hammersmith 
and Fulham on the individuals. 
 
Legal Implications 
 
Section 249 of the Local Government Act 1972 requires a Council by resolution 
passed by not less than two-thirds of the members at a meeting of the Council, 
specially convened for the purpose with notice of the object, to admit ‘persons of 
distinction and persons who have, in the opinion of the Council, rendered eminent 
services to the borough’ as “honorary freeman”, “honorary aldermen”, “honorary 
freewoman” and “honorary alderwoman”. 
  
Contact Officer(s): 
 
Name:  Kayode Adewumi 
Position: Head of Governance  
Telephone: 07899661869 
Email: Kayode.adewumi@lbhf.gov.uk 
  
Name:  Kellie Gooch 
Position: Head of Finance – the environment 
Telephone: 020 8753 2203 
Email: Kellie.Gooch@lbhf.gov.uk   
Verified by Emily Hill, Assistant Director Corporate Finance, 07826 531 849 
Emily.Hill@lbhf.gov.uk  

Page 8

mailto:Kayode.adewumi@lbhf.gov.uk
mailto:Kellie.Gooch@lbhf.gov.uk
mailto:Emily.Hill@lbhf.gov.uk


 
 
Name: Rhian Davies 
Position: Borough Solicitor 
Telephone: 07827 663794 
Email: Rhian.davies@lbhf.gov.uk  
 
Background Papers Used in Preparing This Report 
 
  

Page 9

mailto:Rhian.davies@lbhf.gov.uk


1. DETAILED ANALYSIS 
 
1.1. The conferring of the title Freedom of the Borough is the highest civic 

distinction that can be bestowed upon individuals or collective bodies in 
recognition of outstanding service or particular civic association.  The overriding 
principle is that these awards should be made on merit. Merit for awards is 
defined as:  

 

 Achievement  

 Exceptional Service 
 

The Administration supports the request that the Freedom of the Borough be 
granted to Michael Mansfield QC, Dr Stephen Hirst, Dr John Lister, Merril 
Hammer, Anne Drinkell and Jim Grealy. 

1.2. The reasons for the awards are attached as Appendices 1 - 6.  
 
2. REASONS FOR DECISION 
 
2.1. Section 249 of the Local Government Act 1972 (as amended by the Local 

Democracy, Economic Development and Construction Act 2009) allows the 
Council to confer the titles “honorary freeman”, “honorary aldermen”, “honorary 
freewoman” and “honorary alderwoman” on an individual where appropriate. 

  
3. EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS  
  
3.1. It is not anticipated that there will be any negative impact on any groups with 

protected characteristics, under the terms of the Equality Act 2010, from the 
conference of these titles. 

 
3.2. Implications verified by: Fawad Bhatti, Policy & Strategy Officer, Public Service 

Reform – Tel: 07500103617 
 
 
 

Page 10



Appendix 1 
 
Citation for the ‘Freedom of the Borough’ award to Michael Mansfield QC 
 
In April 2019 the Secretary of State for Health announced that the Government and 
NHS England were withdrawing their support for the Shaping a Healthier Future 
(SaHF) programme, which meant that the closure plans for Charing Cross Hospital 
and Ealing Hospital, first proposed in 2012, were finally dropped.  This 
announcement marked a major victory in a long running campaign in Hammersmith & 
Fulham to fight the closure plans.  A key part of that campaign was the work done by 
the Independent Healthcare Commission for North West London, which was 
launched in December 2014 and published its report in December 2015, exposing 
the deep flaws in the SaHF programme. 
 
As Chair of the Independent Healthcare Commission, Michael Mansfield QC was the 
central figure in the demolition of the Government’s case for the closure of two major 
hospitals in West London and is owed a debt of gratitude for the sterling work he put 
in to deliver the Commission’s excellent report.  Michael Mansfield’s legal and 
analytical expertise, his status, his gravitas and his personal commitment to human 
rights was key to defeating the Shaping a Healthier Future proposals.  He described 
the Government’s announcement that it was ditching the closure plans as “a perfect 
example of the power of the people over the people in power”.   
 
The Independent Healthcare Commission was the channel through which the people 
exercised their power, with submissions of written evidence and via public hearings.  
As Chair of the Commission, Michael Mansfield managed those hearings with skill, 
expertise and compassion.  He made sure that the voice of the people was heard in 
all five boroughs that were sponsoring the Commission’s work.  He did so whilst he 
was also representing families involved in the Hillsborough Inquiry, travelling to 
London for Commission hearings at the weekends and to Warrington for the 
Hillsborough Inquiry through the week. 
 
Michael Mansfield has represented defendants in criminal trials, appeals and 
inquiries in some of the most controversial legal cases the country has seen, 
including the Guildford Four and the Birmingham Six. He represented the family of 
Jean Charles de Menezes and the families of victims at the Bloody Sunday Inquiry. 
He chaired an inquiry into the shoot to kill policy in the North of Ireland and has 
represented many families at inquests, including the Marchioness disaster (which 
was held at Hammersmith Town Hall) and the Lockerbie bombing. He also 
represents the family of Stephen Lawrence.  He was recently described by the Legal 
500 as the ‘king of human rights work’. 
 
The benefits of Michael Mansfield’s work, as Chair of the Independent Healthcare 
Commission for North West London, will be felt for years to come by current 
residents and future generations.  The closure of two hospitals has been averted and 
a national government policy, that would have had such a negative impact on the 
healthcare of Hammersmith & Fulham residents, has been overturned. 
 
In recognition of these achievements, it is recommended that Mr Michael Mansfield 
QC be bestowed the honour of the Freedom of the Borough. 

Page 11



Appendix 2 
 
 
Citation for the ‘Freedom of the Borough’ award to Dr Stephen Hirst 
 
In April 2019 the Secretary of State for Health announced that the Government and 
NHS England were withdrawing their support for the Shaping a Healthier Future 
(SaHF) programme, which meant that the closure plans for Charing Cross Hospital 
and Ealing Hospital, first proposed in 2012, were finally dropped.  This 
announcement marked a major victory in a long running campaign in Hammersmith 
& Fulham to fight the closure plans.  A key part of that campaign was the work done 
by the Independent Healthcare Commission for North West London, which was 
launched in December 2014 and published its report in December 2015, exposing 
the deep flaws in the SaHF programme. 
 
As a member of the Independent Healthcare Commission for North West London, 
Stephen Hirst oversaw the gathering of evidence that revealed the paucity of the 
business case that the NHS relied upon to close crucial hospital services for our 
residents.  His medical expertise and in-depth knowledge of the health service was 
crucial in the analysis of the evidence that the Commission received.  H&F owe him 
a huge debt of thanks for the time he committed to the Commission, including giving 
up his weekends to attend public hearings across North West London.   
 
The Independent Healthcare Commission was the channel through which the people 
of North West London gained a voice, with submissions of written evidence and via 
public hearings.  Stephen Hirst’s many years of experience as a GP provided him 
with the practical insight and extensive local knowledge necessary to ensure the 
completeness of the evidence presented by the Independent Healthcare 
Commission in its final report. 
 
Stephen Hirst is a retired family doctor who worked in Chiswick and Brentford.  He 
was managing and senior partner within a large group practice.  Over forty years of 
professional life he experienced many changes in the NHS and the GP’s role.  His 
postgraduate training was at Charing Cross Hospital.  He went on to hold several 
posts associated with the Hospital, mostly related to teaching and training.  These 
included working as an academic facilitator, an Honorary Senior Lecturer and also as 
the Postgraduate Tutor in General Practice.  He was appointed as a GP Specialist 
Advisor to the Care Quality Commission and worked as a voluntary GP Assessor for 
the Confidential Enquiry into Maternal Deaths. 
 
The benefits of Dr Stephen Hirst’s work for the Independent Healthcare Commission 
for North West London will be felt for years to come by current residents and future 
generations.  The closure of two hospitals has been averted and a national 
government policy, that would have had such a negative impact on the healthcare of 
Hammersmith & Fulham residents, has been overturned.   
 
In recognition of these achievements, it is recommended that Dr Stephen Hirst be 
bestowed the honour of the Freedom of the Borough. 
 

Page 12



Appendix 3 
 
Citation for the ‘Freedom of the Borough’ award to Dr John Lister 
 
In April 2019 the Secretary of State for Health announced that the Government and 
NHS England were withdrawing their support for the Shaping a Healthier Future 
(SaHF) programme, which meant that the closure plans for Charing Cross Hospital 
and Ealing Hospital, first proposed in 2012, were finally dropped.  This announcement 
marked a major victory in a long running campaign in Hammersmith & Fulham to fight 
the closure plans.  A key part of that campaign was the work done by the Independent 
Healthcare Commission for North West London, which was launched in December 
2014 and published its report in December 2015, exposing the deep flaws in the SaHF 
programme. 
 
As a member of the Independent Healthcare Commission for North West London, 
John Lister oversaw the gathering of evidence that revealed the paucity of the 
business case that the NHS relied upon to close crucial hospital services for our 
residents.  His research skills and in-depth knowledge of health services was crucial in 
the analysis of the evidence that the Commission received.  H&F owe him a huge debt 
of thanks for the time he committed to the Commission, including giving up his 
weekends to attend public hearings across North West London.   
 
The Independent Healthcare Commission was the channel through which the people 
of North West London gained a voice, with submissions of written evidence and via 
public hearings.  John Lister’s many years of researching and writing about the NHS 
was an invaluable resource for the Commission to draw on in ensuring the 
completeness of the evidence presented by the Independent Healthcare Commission 
in its final report. 
 
John Lister has written and researched extensively on health services and health 
policy issues for trade union and other organisations for over 28 years.  His PhD thesis 
(2004) was a comparative study of market-style reforms on health care systems 
around the world, a revised version of which was published in 2005 as ‘Health Policy 
Reform, Driving the Wrong Way?’ by Middlesex University Press.  In 2008, to mark the 
60th anniversary of the National Health Service, he researched and wrote a major 
book: ‘The NHS After 60, for Patients or Profits’ (Middlesex University Press), which is 
still the most up to date history of the NHS.  
 
John Lister is a joint chair of the Standing Orders Committee of the National Union of 
Journalists and a member of the Medical Journalist’s Union, the Guild of Health 
Writers, and the Association of Health Care Journalists (US-based), for whom he has 
helped edit a European web page. 
 
The benefits of John Lister’s work for the Independent Healthcare Commission for 
North West London will be felt for years to come by current residents and future 
generations.  The closure of two hospitals has been averted and a national 
government policy, that would have had such a negative impact on the healthcare of 
Hammersmith & Fulham residents, has been overturned.   
In recognition of these achievements, it is recommended that Dr John Lister be 
bestowed the honour of the Freedom of the Borough. 

Page 13



Appendix 4 
 
 
Citation for the ‘Freedom of the Borough’ award to Merril Hammer 
 
In April 2019 the Secretary of State for Health announced that the Government and 
NHS England were withdrawing their support for the Shaping a Healthier Future 
(SaHF) programme, which meant that the closure plans for Charing Cross Hospital 
and Ealing Hospital, first proposed in 2012, were finally dropped.  This 
announcement marked a major victory in a long running campaign in Hammersmith 
& Fulham to fight the closure plans.  That campaign was led by a group of committed 
local residents under the banner of Save Our Hospitals. 
 
As Chair of Save Our Hospitals, Merril Hammer led the campaign tirelessly over 
many years to protect crucial hospital services for the residents of Hammersmith & 
Fulham.  Save Our Hospitals was the channel through which the people of 
Hammersmith & Fulham gained a voice and H&F owes Merril a huge debt of thanks 
for the time and effort she committed to the campaign.   
 
The benefits of her work for Save Our Hospitals will be felt for years to come by 
current residents and future generations.  The closure of two hospitals has been 
averted and a national government policy, that would have had such a negative 
impact on the healthcare of Hammersmith & Fulham residents, has been overturned.   
 
In recognition of these achievements, it is recommended that Merril Hammer be 
bestowed the honour of the Freedom of the Borough. 

Page 14



Appendix 5 
 
 
Citation for the ‘Freedom of the Borough’ award to Anne Drinkell  
 
In April 2019 the Secretary of State for Health announced that the Government and 
NHS England were withdrawing their support for the Shaping a Healthier Future 
(SaHF) programme, which meant that the closure plans for Charing Cross Hospital 
and Ealing Hospital, first proposed in 2012, were finally dropped.  This 
announcement marked a major victory in a long running campaign in Hammersmith 
& Fulham to fight the closure plans.  That campaign was led by a group of committed 
local residents under the banner of Save Our Hospitals. 
 
As Secretary of Save Our Hospitals, Anne Drinkell campaigned tirelessly over many 
years to protect crucial hospital services for the residents of Hammersmith & 
Fulham.  Save Our Hospitals was the channel through which the people of 
Hammersmith & Fulham gained a voice and H&F owes Anne a huge debt of thanks 
for the time and effort she committed to the campaign.   
 
Anne Drinkell is a retired NHS nurse who has devoted her life to caring for people.  
The benefits of her work for Save Our Hospitals will be felt for years to come by 
current residents and future generations.  The closure of two hospitals has been 
averted and a national government policy, that would have had such a negative 
impact on the healthcare of Hammersmith & Fulham residents, has been overturned.   
 
In recognition of these achievements, it is recommended that Anne Drinkell be 
bestowed the honour of the Freedom of the Borough. 

Page 15



Appendix 6 
 
 
Citation for the ‘Freedom of the Borough’ award to Jim Grealy  
 
In April 2019 the Secretary of State for Health announced that the Government and 
NHS England were withdrawing their support for the Shaping a Healthier Future 
(SaHF) programme, which meant that the closure plans for Charing Cross Hospital 
and Ealing Hospital, first proposed in 2012, were finally dropped.  This 
announcement marked a major victory in a long running campaign in Hammersmith 
& Fulham to fight the closure plans.  That campaign was led by a group of committed 
local residents under the banner of Save Our Hospitals. 
 
As Assistant Secretary of Save Our Hospitals, Jim Grealy campaigned tirelessly over 
many years to protect crucial hospital services for the residents of Hammersmith & 
Fulham.  Save Our Hospitals was the channel through which the people of 
Hammersmith & Fulham gained a voice and H&F owes Jim a huge debt of thanks for 
the time and effort he committed to the campaign.   
 
The benefits of his work for Save Our Hospitals will be felt for years to come by 
current residents and future generations.  The closure of two hospitals has been 
averted and a national government policy, that would have had such a negative 
impact on the healthcare of Hammersmith & Fulham residents, has been overturned.   
 
In recognition of these achievements, it is recommended that Jim Grealy be bestowed 
the honour of the Freedom of the Borough." 

Page 16


	Agenda
	4 Freedom of the Borough
	Michael Mansfield - Freedom of the Borough Citation
	Stephen Hirst - Freedom of the Borough Citation
	John Lister - Freedom of the Borough Citation
	Merril Hammer - Freedom of the Borough Citation
	Anne Drinkell - Freedom of the Borough Citation
	Jim Grealy - Freedom of the Borough Citation


